73827.5

ORIGINAL

73827.5

#### COURT OF APPEAL NO. 73827-5 SNOHOMISH COUNTY NO. 14-2-07754-6

# COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

D. RYAN PATRICK and RHONDA PATRICK, husband and wife,

Appellants,



v.

WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A., a national banking association; QUALITY LOAN SERVICE CORPORATION OF WASHINGTON, a Washington corporation; QUALITY LOAN SERVICE CORPORATION, a California corporation; MCCARTHY & HOLTHUS, LLP, a California law firm; and HSBC BANK, USA, N.A. AS TRUSTEE FOR WELLS FARGO ASSET-BACKED PASS-THROUGH CERTIFICATES SERIES 2007-AR8, a National Bank as Trustee for a New York common law trust,

Respondents.

### APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

#### I. INTRODUCTION

In early 2009, Wells Fargo pretended to consider the Patrick family for a loan modification when they were current on their monthly mortgage payment. After approximately eight months of providing Wells Fargo with documents and believing they were being considered for a loan modification, Wells Fargo told Mr. Patrick that if he was three months late on his monthly payment he would qualify for a loan modification that would give him and his family a lower monthly payment. The Patrick family trusted Wells Fargo was telling them the truth. Unfortunately for the Patrick family, over the next several years, it became apparent that placing trust in the representations of Wells Fargo was the biggest mistake they had ever made. After spending six years in torment, Wells Fargo not only took their family home, but stripped Mr. and Mrs. Patrick of their hopes and dreams. Today, Mr. and Mrs. Patrick are going through a divorce because they were ripped apart by the stress and futility of dealing with Wells Fargo<sup>1</sup> and the Trustee Defendants.<sup>2</sup> They carry the shame of losing their home and family because they trusted Wells Fargo.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "Wells Fargo" stands for Wells Fargo and HSBC Bank, USA, N.A. as Trustee for Wells Fargo Asset-Backed Pass-through Certificates Series 2007-AR8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> "Trustee Defendants" stands for Quality Loan Service Corporation of Washington, Quality Loan Service Corporation, and McCarthy & Holthus, LLP

### II. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR<sup>3</sup>

1. The Superior Court erred in granting the Respondent's' request for summary judgment when genuine issue of material fact existed regarding the Patricks' Consumer Protection Act Claim.

2. The Superior Court erred in granting the Respondent's' request for summary judgment when genuine issue of material fact existed regarding the Patricks' negligence claim.

3. The Superior Court erred in granting the Respondent's' request for summary judgment when genuine issue of material fact existed regarding the Patricks' DTA claim.

4. The Superior Court erred in Considering Hearsay evidence that was properly objected to in the Patrick's response brief, and at oral argument.

#### **III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

# A. Accepting, Relying Upon, and Complying with Wells Fargo's Advice Reduces the Patrick Family to Ruins.

On July 10, 2007, the Patricks put their life savings, \$110,000.00,

down and borrowed money from Wells Fargo in to buy their family home

at 4028 164th Place South East, Bothell, Washington 98012 ("Property").

CP 2 at ¶ 3; CP 2779 at ¶ 3; CP 1166-1172.

In 2008, the housing market crashed as a result of the subprime

mortgage crises. See Wigod v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., 673 F.3d 547

(7th Cir. 2012). Like many Americans, the Patricks found themselves

"underwater." CP 2 at ¶ 4. However, the Patricks remained optimistic

because they were both gainfully employed and had heard about loan

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Mr. and Mrs. Patrick's counsel apologizes for the broad assignments of error, but believes they are required because the trial court did not provide any guidance in its order granting Respondents' summary judgment motions. *compare* VP 54:5-55:9 (The Superior Court took the motions under advisement) *with* CP 739-43 (court issued general grant of summary judgment without providing basis or explanation).

modification programs sponsored by the federal government. *Id.* at  $\P$  4, CP 3 at  $\P$  7; CP 2779  $\P$  4.

In May 2009, the Patricks hired Choice Financial to help them obtain a loan modification from Wells Fargo. CP 2 ¶ 5, CP 12-22. The Patricks continued to work with Choice through December 2009. Id.; CP 2-3 at ¶ 6. The Patricks provided Wells Fargo with all requested financial documents, but Wells Fargo never seemed to have enough information to make a decision. Id. In December 2009, the Patricks again contacted Wells Fargo and inquired about a loan modification to reduce their monthly payments and to secure a reduced interest rate to reflect market conditions. CP 2-3 at ¶¶ 5-7; CP 2779 at ¶ 5. Wells Fargo told the Patricks that they could not obtain a loan modification because the Patricks were current on their monthly payments. CP 3 at ¶¶ 8-9; CP 2779 at ¶ 5. Further, Wells Fargo advised the Patricks to stop making their monthly payments so the Patricks could obtain a permanent modification. Id. Although nervous about missing payments, the Patricks relied on Wells Fargo's advice and stopped making their monthly payments. Id. Little did the Patricks know, this was only the beginning of the ensuing nightmare which continues today.

Immediately complying with Wells Fargo's advice to miss three payments, the Patricks began submitting loan modification paperwork to Wells Fargo. CP 4 at ¶ 10; CP 2779 at ¶ 5. Between December 2009 and

April 2010, Wells Fargo regularly requested financial information from the Patricks, and the Patricks promptly sent to Wells Fargo all of the requested materials. *Id.* The Patricks spent time and money on this process. *Id.* Despite the Patricks following all of Wells Fargo's instructions, Wells Fargo lost paperwork and often requested duplicative documents. *Id.* This process was extremely stressful and frustrating for the Patricks because the delays, lost paperwork, and repetitive requests were out of their hands. *Id.* 

Next, in early 2010, Wells Fargo instructed the Patricks to make three trial period payments to obtain a permanent modification with reduced payments and a decreased interest rate. CP 4 at ¶ 11; CP 2124-2127. Wells Fargo told the Patricks that if they successfully made the trial payments, the Patricks would receive a permanent modification. CP 4 at ¶ 11. Wells Fargo instructed the Patricks to pay \$3,096.34 in June 2010, July 2010, and August 2010. *Id.*; CP 2124-2127. Relying on Wells Fargo's representations, the Patricks made all three payments as instructed. *Id*.

After the Patricks timely made all three payments, Wells Fargo did not offer the Patricks a true loan modification that would put the Patricks in a better financial position, as Wells Fargo had promised when it induced the Patricks to miss monthly payments. CP 4-5 at ¶¶ 11-12; CP 2128-2133. Instead, Wells Fargo presented the Patricks with a forbearance agreement.

CP 4-5 ¶ 12, CP 26-35; CP 2128-2133. Although the forbearance agreement is titled "Loan Modification Agreement," it required the Patricks to make monthly payments in the amount of \$2,400.90 with an interest rate of 6.625%, and a balloon payment at the end of the loan. *Id*. This put the Patricks in a worse financial position. CP 4-5 at ¶ 12. Further, Wells Fargo said it would foreclose on the Patricks' home if they did not sign the forbearance agreement. CP 5 at ¶ 13. Left with no other options, the Patricks signed and commenced making payments to Wells Fargo under its terms. *Id*. Fortunately for the Patricks, they could afford to make these payments despite the financial crisis. *Id*.

Given that the forbearance agreement failed to provide the Patricks with any relief, the Patricks continued to communicate with Wells Fargo regarding a true modification. CP 5 at ¶ 14. In June 2012, Wells Fargo again instructed the Patricks to fall behind on their monthly payment to qualify for a modification. *Id.* This began a new cycle of chaos were Wells Fargo requested repetitive and voluminous documentation. CP 5-6 at ¶ 15. The Patricks complied with each request and, in turn, Wells Fargo provided conflicting responses and new requests. CP 5-6 at ¶ 15.

#### **B.** Wells Fargo's Responses to Discovery Reveal Patent Unfairness and Deception in Their Loan Modification Program

#### i. Wells Fargo's internal guidelines show it would not consider the Patricks for a modification unless the Patricks' missed Payments

Wells Fargo made available to its employees a tool that provided information about the servicing of the Patricks' loan based on the guidelines in the pooling and servicing agreement. CP 2240-2246, CP 2297-2303. These guidelines show the Patricks would not be considered for a loan modification unless they were either "in Default or Default Imminent." CP 2156-2157, CP 2240-2246, CP 2297-2303. This directive explains why Wells Fargo twice told the Patricks that they must miss payments to qualify for a modification. *Id.*; CP 3 ¶¶ at 8-9, CP 2779.

# ii. Wells Fargo changed the Patrick's point of contact frequently, such that they were constantly restarting the modification process

While the Patricks were seeking a modification from Wells Fargo, Wells Fargo switched the Patricks' client contact seven times. CP 2148-2152, CP 2196-2198, CP 2234-2236, CP 2252-2253, CP 2468-2471. In some instances, they dealt with their client contact for about a month before it was changed and in some instances they had their contact changed after having dealt with the same person for a year or more. *See Id*.

Furthermore, as explained *infra*, the transition between contacts was marred with mistakes, inaccuracies, and unreasonable behavior on the part of Wells Fargo. Often, the Patricks would receive conflicting information or requests from more than one Wells Fargo employee claiming to be their

dedicated client contact at the same time or within a few days of each other. *Compare* CP 2166-2187, *with* CP 2188-2203; *compare also* 2218-2221, with 2222-2223. One representative might send a letter to the Patricks requesting information to supplement an existing modification application while another representative sent the Patricks a letter denying their application and requesting that they start anew. See e.g. CP 2166-2187 (Wells Fargo representative Sandra Contreras sent the Patricks two letters on November 8, 2012, acknowledging receipt of modification documents, then another letter on November 9, 2012, curiously introducing herself and soliciting the Patricks to submit documents for a completely new modification application); CP 2188-2198 (Wells Fargo representative sent the Patricks three separate letters on November 12, 2012, one introducing herself as the Patricks new assigned contact person, another denying the Patricks' outstanding application for a modification, and yet another requesting additional information for the modification application that she denied that same day); CP 2214-2233 (Wells Fargo sends conflicting letters that acknowledge receipt of application materials and deny the application on the same day, then send letter requesting additional information for that same modification application just days later).

iii. Wells Fargo continually solicited and accepted the Patricks' applications for HAMP when Wells Fargo knew, or should have known, that the servicing guidelines for the Patricks' loan made a HAMP modification an impossibility

The servicing guidelines for the Patricks' loan, available to Wells Fargo employees, but not the Patricks, provide that loan modifications are allowed. CP 2240-2246, CP 2297-2303, CP 2666. However, there are very specific limitations. *See Id.*; CP 2692-2694, CP 2717. A modification of the Patricks' loan may not include: 1) capitalization or increase in the principal balance; 2) forgiveness of any portion of the principal balance; 3) setting aside or deferring any principal; 4) any extension of the maturity date of the loan; or, 5) any permanent reduction in the mortgage interest rate. *Id.* These limitations prevented the Patricks' loan from being modified under HAMP. CP 2357-2454.

Nonetheless, Wells Fargo unfairly and deceptively solicited HAMP modification applications from the Patricks and told the Patricks they were being considered for a HAMP modification. CP 2152-2155, CP 2162-2163, CP 2192-2195, CP 2214-2217, CP 2237-2239, CP 2254-257, CP 2289-2292, CP 2304-2307, CP 2320-2324, CP 2328-2341, CP 2472-2573. Wells Fargo sent the Patricks multiple solicitations inviting the Patricks to apply for a HAMP modification. CP 2254-2257, CP 2254-2257, CP 2472-2573. Additionally, Wells Fargo's denial letters to the Patricks often stated

"[w]e do not have the contractual authority to modify your loan under HAMP because of limitations in our servicing agreement." CP 2192-2195, CP 2214-2217, CP 2320-2324. In spite of these statements, after Wells Fargo induced the Patricks to miss payments to obtain a loan modification, Wells Fargo continued to give the Patricks false hope by soliciting HAMP applications, telling the Patricks they would be considered for a HAMP modification, and occasionally reviewing the Patricks for a HAMP modification. CP 2152-2155, CP 2162-2163, CP 2192-2195, CP 2214-2217, CP 2237-2239, CP 2254-257, CP 2289-2292, CP 2304-2307, CP 2320-2324, CP 2328-2341, CP 2472-2573.

Wells Fargo even attended mediation with the Patricks regarding the Patricks' pursuit of qualifying for a HAMP modification, in spite of its knowledge that the Patricks' loan was ineligible. CP 2293-2296, CP 2345-2457. At mediation, Wells Fargo falsely represented to the Patricks that the reason they were denied a HAMP modification was that they did not qualify based on their income. CP 2345-2356. Perhaps this was so that Wells Fargo could avoid complying with RCW 61.24.163(5)(j) or disclosing it was prohibited from modifying the Patricks loan, even though it had twice induced them to miss monthly mortgage payments so they would qualify. CP 2354-2356. In truth, it would not have mattered what the Patricks' income was, given their loan's ineligibility for HAMP. *Id*.

When the Patricks appealed the mediation outcome, Wells Fargo's investigation report stated that the loan was not eligible for HAMP. CP 2357-2454. Nonetheless, Wells Fargo continued to consider the Patricks for a HAMP loan modification. CP 2472-2573.

#### iv. Wells Fargo obfuscated the loan modification process

While dealing with the Patricks, Wells Fargo performed multiple acts to confuse, delay, and complicate the modification process. Wells Fargo repeatedly gave the Patricks conflicting information regarding who the "investor" was that Wells Fargo was servicing the Patricks loan on behalf of. CP 2193-2195<sup>4</sup>, CP 2209-2211<sup>5</sup>, CP 2215-2217<sup>6</sup>, CP 2248-2251.<sup>7</sup> Wells Fargo stated that the Patricks' applications for a modification had been denied based on the decision of the investor. CP 2118-2120, CP 2158-2161, CP 2192-2195, CP 2214-2217, CP 2313-2324. However, the investor was identified to be different entities, including: (1) HSBC as Trustee, (2) the Trust, and (3) Wells Fargo. *Compare* CP 2192-2195 *with* CP 2208-2211, CP 2214-2217, CP 2247-2251, CP 2313-2324. Sometimes, the identified investor would alternate over the course of a few months. *Id*. Other times, Wells Fargo did not identify the existence of an investor,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> November 12, 2012, "investor, Wells Fargo Bank, N.A."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> December 21, 2012, "investor, HSBC Bank USA, N.A."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> January 16, 2013, "investor, Wells Fargo Bank, N.A."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> June 14, 2013, "investor, HSBC BANK USA, N.A. WFMBS 2007-AR-8"

such as in its denial letters. CP 2118-2123, CP 2158-2161, CP 2192-2195.

Wells Fargo forced the Patricks to submit duplicative documents, because Wells Fargo failed to carefully review the submitted documents. *See infra*. The Patricks submitted a Third Party Authorization form naming people to whom the Patricks had authorized Wells Fargo to share their information with, including their housing counselors at Parkview Services. CP 2162-2165. Wells Fargo responded with a letter stating that it received and recognized its authorization to share info with only one of these people; the Washington Attorney General's office. CP 2204-2205. The Patricks were forced to submit a separate form, again authorizing Wells Fargo to share their information with Parkview. CP 2206-2207.

Wells Fargo also made requests that were impossible to comply with, including requests for future bank account statements, i.e. reporting periods that would not conclude until after the deadline had passed. CP 2188-2191 (Letter dated November 12, 2012, that requests the Patricks' future personal bank statements from 10/22/12-11/23/12 and future business bank statements from 11/1/12-11/30/12, yet also states that that these documents must be received by the due date of November 22, 2012).

# v. Wells Fargo provided the Patricks' with false reasons for the denial of their loan modification applications.

Wells Fargo gave multiple false reasons for denying the Patricks a

modification. Wells Fargo stated that the investor determined it was against their best interests, the investor simply declined to approve, and the Patricks didn't qualify due to their monthly income. CP 2118-2120, CP 2158-2161, CP 2247-2251. All of these statements are false; as Master Servicer, Wells Fargo, is identified in Wells Fargo's own guidelines as being the party whose consent is required to approve a modification. CP 2240-2246, CP 2297-2303, CP 2666. Wells Fargo also claimed the Patricks had exceeded the allowed number of modifications, an untruth that was uncovered at mediation. CP 2313-2319, CP 2345-2353.

# C. The Patricks mediate with Wells Fargo under Washington's Fairness Foreclosure Act

Despite telling the Patricks they would qualify for a loan modification, Wells Fargo started non-judicial foreclosure proceedings in August 2013. CP 2912 at ¶ 4. Getting nowhere with Wells Fargo, the Patricks turned to Parkview Services, a housing counselor, for help. CP 5 at ¶ 16. The Patricks were referred into the Foreclosure Fairness Act's ("FFA") Mediation Program, under RCW 61.24.163, and started working with housing counselor Shelley Doran in 2014. CP 6 at ¶¶ 16-17; CP 2780 at ¶ 8. Despite their ongoing ordeal with Wells Fargo, the Patricks felt hopeful, the FFA Mediation would finally afford them the opportunity to sit down and talk with a real person to get things straightened out. *Id*. Ms. Doran tried to get Wells Fargo to provide the Patricks with a long overdue loan modification. CP 6, CP 36-738; CP 2345-2353. Ms. Doran and the Patricks prepared a complete loan modification package and promptly provided this to the FFA Mediator and Wells Fargo, through its attorney, Mr. Robert McDonald of Defendant M&H. *Id*.

Sadly, despite Ms. Doran's assistance and advocacy, the Patricks did not fare any better with Wells Fargo. Wells Fargo did not provide the Patricks with Net Present Value ("NPV") inputs before the FFA Mediation Session. CP 6-7 at ¶ 18; RCW 61.24.163(5)(g). On the day of the mediation, the Patricks and Ms. Doran arrived anxious and early. *Id.*; CP 2780-2781 at ¶ 9. At this point, Wells Fargo had not let the Patricks know the results of the modification review. CP 2780-2781 at ¶ 9. When the Mediation did not begin on time, the Patricks felt increasingly apprehensive. *Id.*; CP 6-7 at ¶ 18; CP 2345-2353.

At mediation, Wells Fargo refused to consider all of Rhonda's income despite Rhonda's willingness to be a co-borrower on a modification. CP 6-7 at ¶ 18. Next, the Wells Fargo representative made inconsistent statements regarding the Patricks' eligibility for loan modification programs: the representative stated the Patricks were not eligible for a loan modification because they had exceeded the number of allowed modifications, but later admitted that this was not true. *Id.*; CP 2780-2781 at ¶ 9; CP 2345-2353. The NPV provided by Wells Fargo included manipulated inputs resulting in a failing NPV; after the Mediation, Ms. Doran used the correct inputs resulting in a passing NPV, which showed the Patricks were eligible for a loan modification under HAMP. CP 6-7 at ¶¶ 18-19; CP 2304-2312, CP 2325-2344, CP 2345-2353.

Moreover, the Patricks requested a copy of the pooling and servicing agreement that Wells Fargo alleged was related to their loan, a document the Patricks were entitled to under RCW 61.24.163(5)(j). CP 2345-2353. Wells Fargo provided a single page that was clearly part of a larger document. *Id.* In discovery, Wells Fargo produced two separate documents it claimed were related to the servicing of the loan; each over 100 pages. CP 2624-2772. However, during FFA Mediation, Wells Fargo would not provide the complete documents even though the mediator required them to. CP 2345-2353. Additionally, Wells Fargo did not provide any documentation detailing efforts made to obtain a waiver of the investor restriction, as required under RCW 61.24.163(5)(j). *Id.* 

Based off their mediation experience, the Patricks filed a complaint against the trustee conducting the nonjudicial foreclosure, QLSWA, with the Washington Attorney General's Office. CP 1711-1714. The Patricks expressed their concern that they were continually denied a loan modification, even when told they were told they would get one, and, in

fact, they qualified for one. *Id.* In response, QLSWA stated they did not have enough information to evaluate the Patricks' assertions, even though QLSWA is owned by the same attorneys that own M&H, and Mr. McDonald represented Wells Fargo as an attorney working for M&H, and Mr. McDonald was also General Counsel for Quality. CP 1717-1739.

# **D.** Foreclosure proceedings initiated by Wells Fargo's attorney during FFA mediation

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