73827-5 73827-5

#### No. 73827-5

#### WASHINGTON COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I

D. RYAN PATRICK and RHONDA PATRICK, husband and wife,

e, FILED Feb 22, 2016 Court of Appeals Division I

State of Washington

Appellants,

VS.

WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A., a national banking association; QUALITY LOAN SERVICE CORPORATION OF WASHINGTON, a Washington corporation; QUALITY LOAN SERVICE CORPORATION, a California corporation; MCCARTHY & HOLTHUS, LLP, a California law firm; and HSBC BANK, USA, N.A. AS TRUSTEE FOR WELLS

2007-AR8, a National Bank as Trustee for a New York common law trust,

Respondents.

FARGO ASSET-BACKED PASS-THROUGH CERTIFICATES SERIES

#### II. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Whether the Patricks waived their claims when they chose not to restrain the foreclosure sale.
- 2. Whether the Patricks failed to raise a genuine issue of material fact as to key elements of their CPA claim.
- 3. Whether RCW 19.86.170 exempts Wells Fargo and HSBC from Appellants' CPA claim.

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## A. The Patricks Borrow Money Secured by a Deed of Trust.

On July 10, 2007, the Patricks executed a promissory note to receive a \$435,960 loan from Wells Fargo ("Note"). CP 856. To secure their payment obligations, they executed a deed of trust encumbering property located at 4028 164<sup>th</sup> Place SE, Bothell, WA 98012 ("Property"). CP 840. Wells Fargo was listed as the lender and beneficiary of the deed of trust, and Northwest Trustee Services, LLC was the trustee ("DOT"). CP 862. Wells Fargo later assigned its interest in the loan to HSBC as trustee for a mortgage backed security fund. CP 843. HSBC thereafter became the holder of the Note. CP 434, 860, 2918. Wells Fargo remained the servicer. CP 838.

#### B. The Patricks Purposefully Default.

Despite the 2008 market crash, the Patricks were employed and had no trouble making their monthly mortgage payments. CP 2, ¶¶ 4-7. Nevertheless, Ryan Patrick worked in real estate and believed the Property

had declined in value. In 2009, he contacted Wells Fargo to request consideration for a loan modification "to see what their options were." RP 25-26. It merits emphasis that the Patricks were both employed and fully capable of making their loan payments under the agreed upon terms. RP 25. They did not *need* a loan modification, they just wanted one.

In their declarations, the Patricks contend that an unnamed Wells Fargo representative informed them over the phone that "there were multiple loan modification programs available," but they could not qualify if they were current on their payments (i.e. not experiencing financial hardship). CP 3 at ¶¶ 7-8. They allege that this representative "advised" them to stop making payments in order to be considered. CP 3 at ¶¶ 7-8, 2779. In January 2009, the Patricks intentionally defaulted on their payments. CP 3, 841, 2779. They then applied for and were reviewed for a loan modification.

On March 3, 2009, Wells Fargo notified the Patricks that the investor had declined to modify their loan. CP 2119. They applied again and, in September 2010, were offered a loan modification agreement that allowed them to recommence their payments at approximately the same amount as before (which they could afford), and tacked their missed payments onto the end of their loan without interest. They accepted the modification. CP 4-5, 30. The last page of the agreement is an affidavit of eligibility, in which the Patricks certified that "[they] did not intentionally or purposefully default on the Mortgage Loan in order to obtain a loan modification . . . ." CP 35.

Nevertheless, in 2012, the Patricks purposefully defaulted on their loan payments a second time in the hopes of obtaining a modification with better terms. CP 5 ("I intentionally missed mortgage payments in order to obtain a true loan modification from Wells Fargo."). Curiously, in the contemporaneous applications they submitted to Wells Fargo they said they were experiencing financial hardship. CP 208-209. Moreover, they attested to the following under the penalty of perjury:

I understand that if I have intentionally defaulted on my existing mortgage, engaged in fraud or misrepresented any fact(s) in connection with this request for mortgage relief or if I do not provide all required documentation, the Servicer may cancel any mortgage relief granted and may pursue foreclosure on my home and/or pursue any available legal remedies.

CP 68 at ¶ 4 (emphasis added). The Patricks' signatures appear directly below this key term.

The Patricks did not qualify for any subsequent loan modifications. To the contrary, they were repeatedly told that they did not qualify. CP 461 (July 2012 denial letter); CP 470 (November 2012 denial letter); CP 466 (December 2012 denial letter); CP 463 (January 2013 denial letter); CP 473 (June 2013 denial letter); CP 480 (February 2014 denial letter); CP 2431 (April 2014 denial letter). Although they did not make the allegation until they filed suit, the fact that they intentionally defaulted is yet another reason they would not qualify for a loan modification. CP 68 at ¶ 4.

On November 25, 2014, the Patricks requested mediation with Wells Fargo pursuant to the Foreclosure Fairness Act. The mediation took

place on February 25, 2014. CP 843. Consistent with the previous denials, the Patricks were told at the mediation that they did not qualify for a modification. CP 477-490.

The FFA mediator certified that the parties mediated in good faith. Attached to the good faith certificate is a copy of the agreed upon net present value numbers used at the mediation, the investor restrictions, and evidence of Wells Fargo's efforts to obtain a waiver of the investor restrictions. CP 477-490.

#### C. <u>The Trustee Commences Nonjudicial Foreclosure.</u>

The Patricks failed to make a single payment on their loan after July 2012. On September 13, 2013, HSBC (through Wells Fargo as its attorney-in-fact) executed an Appointment of Successor Trustee, appointing Quality Loan Service Corporation of Washington ("QLS") as successor trustee under the DOT. CP 2915.

On November 19, 2013, QLS sent the Patricks a Notice of Default showing they remained in default for their July 2012 payment and all subsequent payments due thereafter. CP 885.

Before recording, transmitting, or serving the Note of Trustee's Sale ("NOTS"), QLS received a declaration signed by Nakeisha Covington, Vice President Loan Documentation for Wells Fargo, stating under penalty of perjury, as HSBC's attorney-in-fact, HSBC was the actual holder of the Note secured by the DOT. CP 2912. QLS recorded a

NOTS on September 8, 2014, setting the date of the nonjudicial foreclosure sale for January 9, 2015. CP 2938.

#### D. The Patricks Choose Not to Restrain the Sale.

The Patricks filed suit on December 15, 2014, but never took any further steps to restrain the trustee's sale. Because they neither cured their default nor restrained the sale, the Property sold at public auction on February 13, 2015, more than two and a half years after the Patricks stopped making payments. CP 2913. Following the sale, the trustee issued a Trustee's Deed to HSBC. CP 927, 2949.

#### IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

On review of an order of summary judgment, the Court engages in the same inquiry as the trial court: "all facts and reasonable inferences are considered in a light most favorable to the nonmoving party, while all questions of law are reviewed *de novo*." *Coppernoll v. Reed*, 155 Wn.2d 290, 296 (2005); *Leahy v. Quality Loan Serv. Corp. of Wash.*, 190 Wn. App. 1, 3 (2015).

The motion should be granted where there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. CR 56(c) (emphasis added). Summary judgment should be denied only if a reasonable jury could return a verdict for Appellants on the record they submitted. *Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc.*, 477 U.S. 242, 251 (1986); *Young v. Key Pharmaceuticals, Inc.*, 112 Wn. 2d 216 (1989).

To survive a motion for summary judgment, Appellants have "the burden of establishing *specific and material facts* to support each element of [their] prima facie case." *Hiatt v. Walker Chevrolet Co.*, 120 Wn.2d 57, 66 (1992) (emphasis in original). They "may not rely on speculation, argumentative assertions that unresolved factual issues remain, or on having [their] affidavits considered at face value." *Wash. Fed. Sav. v. Klein,* 177 Wn. App. 22, 27 (2013); *Leahy,* 190 Wn. App. at 3. Affidavits opposing summary judgment "shall set forth such facts as would be admissible in evidence, and shall show affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify to the matters stated therein." CR 56(e).

Notably, the Court may affirm summary judgment on *any* valid basis supported by the record. RAP 2.5(a); *see also Nast v. Michels*, 107 Wn.2d 300, 308 (1986) ("an appellate court may sustain a trial court on any correct ground, even though that ground was not considered by the trial court.").

#### V. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

#### A. The Patricks Waived Their Claims.

Washington's Deeds of Trust Act ("DTA"), RCW 61.24 et seq., sets forth procedures that must be followed in order to obtain a pre-sale injunction to halt a nonjudicial foreclosure sale. RCW 61.24.130. "This statutory procedure is the 'only means by which a grantor may preclude a sale once foreclosure has begun with receipt of the notice of sale and foreclosure." Brown v. Household Realty Corp., 146 Wn. App. 157, 163

(2008) (quoting *Cox v. Helenius*, 103 Wn.2d 383, 388 (1985)) (emphasis added); *In re Marriage Kaseburg*, 126 Wn. App. 546, 588 (2005) ("The Act provides the sole method to contest and enjoin a foreclosure sale under RCW 61.24.13 0(1)."). From this, Washington courts have developed a waiver doctrine that supports the DTA's primary goals of (1) promoting efficient and inexpensive nonjudicial foreclosures, (2) allowing the parties adequate opportunity to prevent wrongful foreclosure, and (3) promising stability of land titles. *Plein v. Lackey*, 149 Wn.2d 214, 225 (2003).

The law is clear. The failure to enjoin and prevent a nonjudicial foreclosure sale waives a party's ability to contest the sale or the underlying debt obligation extinguished by the sale. *Frizzell v. Murray*, 179 Wn.2d 301, 307-309 (2013). Waiver occurs when a party (1) had notice of the right to enjoin the sale, (2) had actual knowledge of his defenses prior to the sale, and (3) failed to obtain a court order enjoining the sale. *Id.* at 309; *Plein*, 149 Wn. 2d at 227.

Here, the elements of waiver are uncontested. The Patricks (1) received notice of their right to enjoin the foreclosure sale, (2) had knowledge of their claims prior to the sale, and (3) failed to enjoin the sale. Accordingly, the Court should uphold summary judgment based on waiver. *Frizzell*, 179 Wn.2d at 308 (2013); *Plein*, 149 Wn.2d at 227; *Leahy*, 190 Wn. App. at 13.

#### 1. The Patricks Had Notice of the Sale.

The Patricks do not dispute that they received notice of their right to enjoin the trustee's sale. They attached the NOTS to their complaint, which they filed a month before the sale. CP 899. The NOTS states that "[a]nyone having objection to the sale on any grounds whatsoever will be afforded an opportunity to be heard as to those objections if they bring a lawsuit to restrain the sale pursuant to RCW 61.24.130. *Failure to bring such a lawsuit may result in a waiver of any proper grounds for invalidating the Trustee's sale.*" CP 900, ¶ IX (emphasis added). Thus, the Patricks' own pleading is proof that they knew of their right to seek an injunction to restrain the sale. *E.g. Frizzell*, 179 Wn.2d at 307.

#### 2. The Patricks Had Knowledge of Their Claims.

"[I]n applying the waiver doctrine, a person is not required to have knowledge of the legal basis for his claim, but merely knowledge of the facts sufficient to establish the elements of a claim that could serve as a defense to foreclosure." *Brown*, 146 Wn. App. at 164–65. Here, the Patricks filed their complaint prior to the sale, so there can be no dispute that they had knowledge of their claims. *Frizzell*, 179 Wn.2d at 307 ("[S]he also had knowledge of a defense to the foreclosure prior to the sale, demonstrated by the claims made in her original complaint."). Thus, the second element of waiver also exists.

#### 3. The Patricks Chose Not To Enjoin The Sale.

This is not a case where a party alleges they were told no sale would take place only to find out that, in fact, a sale went forward. The Patricks simply *chose* not to invoke the mandatory procedures in the DTA. RP 29. In so doing, they knowingly waived any rights they had to contest the sale or the underlying debt.

The Washington Supreme Court made it clear in *Plein* that the mere act of filing a complaint seeking injunctive relief is insufficient to avoid waiver. In *Plein*, a junior lienholder "disputed whether there was a default[,] . . . [but] he never sought a preliminary injunction or any order that would have halted the sale, and accordingly did not comply with other requirements such as providing the trustee with five days' notice of any attempt to seek such an order." *Plein*, 149 Wn.2d at 226. The court emphasized that "[s]imply bringing an action to obtain a permanent injunction will not forestall a trustee's sale that occurs before the end of the action is reached." *Id.* (emphasis added). If it did, the mandatory injunction procedures set forth in RCW 61.24.130 would be rendered meaningless. *Id.* at 227.

In *Frizzell*, the borrower actually did file a pre-sale motion to restrain the trustee's sale. *Frizzell*, 179 Wn.2d at 305. The trial court granted the motion but conditioned relief upon the borrower making required payments and posting a bond in accordance with RCW

61.24.130(1). *Id*. The sale went forward when the borrower failed to make the payments. *Id*.

Frizzell nevertheless applied waiver. The court reasoned that RCW 61.24.130(1) is "clear that the [restraining] order is conditional upon payment, which Frizzell failed to make." *Id.* at 308. "Frizzell received notice and had the opportunity to prevent foreclosure, but through her actions she failed to meet the clear statutory requirements under RCW 61.24.130 and did not actually obtain an order enjoining the sale." *Id.* It was "not inequitable to conclude that Frizzell waived her sale claims where she had knowledge of how to enjoin the sale and failed to do so through her own actions." *Id.* at 20.

Likewise, the Patricks waived their claims when they chose not to pursue an injunction. All the elements of waiver exist. Accordingly, the Court should uphold summary judgment based on waiver.

#### B. Only the CPA Claim Survives Waiver.

Waiver is not limited to claims for injunctive relief. To the contrary, under the canon of *expression unius est exclusio alterius*, waiver applies to *all* pre-sale claims related to the debt except those that are expressly preserved under RCW 61.24.127(1). That statute only preserves the Patricks' CPA claim.

RCW 61.24.127(1) provides that a failure to enjoin a sale under the DTA may not be deemed a waiver of a claim for damages asserting:

- (a) Common law fraud or misrepresentation (not alleged);
- (b) Violation of [the CPA];

- (c) Failure of the *trustee* to materially comply with the provisions of [the DTA]; or;
- (d) A violation of RCW 61.24.026 (not at issue).

RCW 61.24.127(1). RCW 61.24.127(2) places further restrictions on the preserved claims by imposing a two year post-sale statute of limitation and prohibiting the borrower from recording a *lis pendens* related to the foreclosed upon property. The legislature's primary purpose in enacting RCW 61.24.127 was to soften the holding of *Brown v*. *Household Realty Corp.*, 146 Wn. App. 157 (2008), which held that a borrower waives all claims against a lender related to the loan, including claims related to the origination and servicing of the loan, if the borrower fails to restrain the trustee's sale. *Frias v. Asset Foreclosure Servs.*, 181 Wn.2d 412, 425 (2014); *Leahy*, 188 Wn. App. at 194.

The import of the statutory list of "non-waived" claims in RCW 61.24.127 is clear: "an inference arises in law that all things or classes of things omitted from [the list] were intentionally omitted by the legislature under the maxim *expression unius est exclusion alterius*. . . ." *Ellensburg Cement Prods.*, *Inc. v. Kittitas County*, 179 Wn.2d 737, 750 (2014) (quoting *Wash. Natural Gas Co. v. Public Util. Dist.*, 77 Wn.2d 94, 98 (1969)). If the legislature intended to save *all* damages claims from waiver, it would have simply stated that claims for damages are not waived. It would not have gone to the trouble of carving out specific damages claims if it intended for all damages claims to be saved.

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